PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE  
SOUTH CAROLINA SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Sep 18 2023

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Bentley D. Price  
Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000504

Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, not in its individual capacity but solely as owner trustee  
for CSMC 2018-RPL6 Trust, Respondent,

v.

Rex A. Field, Tracy L. Field, Dulamo Estates Home Owner's Association, Inc., Defendants, of  
whom Rex A. Field and Tracy L. Field are the Appellants.

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Appellants respectfully Petition this court for grant of Writ of Certiorari under Rules 242(3)

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN AFFIRMING TRIAL COURT ORDER STRIKING JURY DEMAND OF THE FIELDS WHICH ALLEGED LEGAL AND COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIMS?
- II. IS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN CONFLICT WITH PRIOR DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT WHERE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO APPLY LOGICAL RELATIONSHIP TESTING AND IMPROPERLY CONFIRMED REFERENCE COMPULSORY REFERENCE VACATED BY THE MATER IN EQUITY COURT?
- III. IS THE DETERMINATION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS IN ERROR WHERE THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND AUTHORITY BY EXCEEDING RELIEF GRANTED BY MOTION TO STRIKE THE FIELD'S JURY STRIKE DEMAND?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a foreclosure case filed by Wilmington with counterclaims brought by the Fields. Wilmington sought both deficiency judgment against the Fields and foreclosure of the Fields' Beaufort County home. The case presents a tortured procedural history. Appellants respectfully aver the procedural errors culminate in trial court bias and abuse of discretion under controlling error of law avering that the Court of Appeals erred in Affirming the Trial Court, Hon. Bentley D. Price's Strike of the Fields' Jury Demand under Rule 13(a), and by erroneously characterizing their legal and compulsory counterclaims as permissive relying upon *Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C.*, 414 S.C. 289, 292, 778 S.E.2d 106, 108 (2015) where no express or implied Waiver. Appellants cite trial court failure to properly analyze compulsory counterclaims under Rule 13(a) SCRPC, nor apply logical relationship testing pursuant to established authority of the Supreme Court in *N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp*, 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989). Appellants acknowledge the holding of this court in *Duetsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Estate of Houck*, 2023 S.C. Lexis 158 (August 9, 2023). [Cases commenced on or after the effective date of this opinion, the question of whether a counterclaim is compulsory is governed by the plain language of Rule 13(a)] and aver abuse of discretion under controlling error of law by the trial court April 15, 2021 now erroneously affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

Appellants respectfully aver Certiorari is appropriate because the Court of Appeals decision affects substantial justice in the case at bar and Affirmed a decision of the lower court that is in conflict with prior binding precedent and decisions of the Supreme Court, and affects important and substantial rights as guaranteed by the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, specifically Article I section 14.

## ARGUMENTS

### I. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN AFFIRMING TRIAL COURT ORDER STRIKING JURY DEMAND OF THE FIELDS WHICH ALLEGED LEGAL AND COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIMS ?

Yes. Appellants assert the Court of Appeals has affirmed the trial court strike of jury demand where the court failed to apply logical relationship test to determine whether the Field's counterclaims were permissive or compulsory and in error failed to apply Rule 13(a) SCRPC properly to the Fields' counterclaims, which were compulsory and not permissive.

### II. IS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN CONFLICT WITH PRIOR DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT WHERE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO APPLY LOGICAL RELATIONSHIP TESTING AND IMPROPERLY CONFIRMED REFERENCE COMPULSORY REFERENCE VACATED BY THE MATER IN EQUITY COURT ?

Yes. The determination of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court in prospective application to this case of *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Estate of Houck*, 2023 S.C. Lexis 158 (August 9, 2023) specifically where no logical relationship was performed and the trial court level applying Rule 13(a) SCRPC on April 15, 2021. As set forth by this Supreme Court, the result in *N.C. Federal Sav. & Loan Assoc. v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514 as affirmed cited that the logical relationship test had been applied in a way in prior precedent that does not track Rule 13(a). See, *Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C.*, 414 S.C. 289, 295, 778 S.E.2d 106, 109 (2015); *Wachovia Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 330 n. 7, 755 S.E.2d 437, 442 n.7 (2014); *Mullinax v. Bates*, 317 S.C. 394, 396, 453 S.E.2d 894, 895 (1995); *First Citizens Bank & Tr. Co. of S.C. v. Hucks*, 305 S.C. 296, 298, 408 S.E.2d 222, 223 (1991); *S.C. Cmty. Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 420 S.C. 89, 97, 800 S.E.2d 488, 492 (Ct. App. 2017); *Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd.*, 351 S.C.

56, 61, 566 S.E.2d 863, 865 (Ct. App. 2002) (HN2). Appellants aver certiorari is proper and should be granted by this court as the decision in this case affects important and substantial rights. S.C. Const. Art. I §14.

III. IS THE DETERMINATION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS IN ERROR WHERE THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND AUTHORITY BY EXCEEDING RELIEF REQUESTED BY MOTION TO STRIKE THE FIELD'S JURY STRIKE DEMAND APRIL 15, 2021 ?

Yes. The trial court under Hon. Bentley D. Price strikes the Fields' demand for Jury Trial and granted excessive relief not sought by Wilmington's Motion to Strike which did not request nor have prayer for reference or bi-furcation. Appellants assert the trial court procedurally advanced all further litigation proceedings to other circuit judges without properly applying Rule 13(a) or applying a logical relationship test pursuant to *Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass'n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 330, 755 S.E.2d at 109 ("A counterclaim is compulsory if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence and is thus compulsory, when there is a "logical relationship" between the counterclaim and the enforceability of the guaranty agreement"). *Id* and "[T]he test for determining if a counterclaim is compulsory is whether there is a "logical relationship" between the claim and counterclaim. *N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989). Appellants aver the circuit court failed to properly apply Rule 13(a) SCRPC before strike of the Fields' Jury Demand, now in error affirmed by the Court of Appeals and thus warranting grant of writ of certiorari by this court of a decision occurring before the effective date of August 9, 2023 the prospective application cited by *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Estate of Houck* 2023 S.C. Lexis 158 (August 9, 2023).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Petitioners respectfully seek the Supreme Court grant the Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari in the above captioned case.