**RECEIVED**

**Oct 18 2023**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court**

---

**APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2023-001465  
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2021-000504  
Circuit Court Case No. 2019-CP-07-02279**

---

**Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, not in its  
individual capacity, but solely as owner trustee for  
CSMC 2018-RPL6 Trust,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**Rex A. Field, Tracy L. Field, Dulamo Estates  
Homeowners' Association, Inc.,**

**Defendants,**

**Of whom Rex A. Field and Tracy Field are the**

**Appellants.**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN STRIKING THE FIELDS' JURY DEMAND.

Although the Fields couch their appellate argument in three different ways, their sole argument is that the trial court erred in striking their jury demand. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court committed no such error. The Fields' arguments do not come close to the "character of reasons" warranting issuance of a writ of certiorari under SCACR 242(b). The Fields' petition should be denied.

#### A. Standard of Review.

Normally, "[t]he matter of striking from a pleading . . . is largely within the discretion of the trial judge" such that "[t]he granting . . . of a Motion to Strike . . . will not be reversed except for an abuse of discretion or unless the action of the trial judge was controlled by an error of law." *Brown v. Coastal States Life Ins. Co.*, 264 S.C. 190, 194, 213 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1975). However, "[w]hether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law," and "[a]n appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court." *Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772–73 (2010).

#### B. As a threshold matter, this Court's recent decision in *Deutsche Bank v. Houck* does not apply to this appeal.

In August of this year, this Court abolished the "logical relationship test" in favor of the "plain language of Rule 13(a)," when determining whether a counterclaim is compulsory or permissive. See *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Estate of Houck*, No. 2021-001292, -- S.E.2d --, 2023 WL 5075037, at \*1 (S.C. 2023). In doing so, however, this Court made explicitly clear that its holding applies only to "cases commenced *on or after the effective date of this opinion.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). Because the instant case was "commenced" on October 11, 2019 (see R. pp. 35–43), and because this Court did not decide *Houck* until August 9, 2023 (*almost four years*

later), the holding of *Houck* does not apply to this appeal. Stated differently, the logical relationship test—as set forth in *N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989), and its progeny—applies in this case in determining whether the Fields' counterclaims are compulsory or permissive, and thus whether the trial court erred in striking the Fields' jury demand.<sup>6</sup>

While making arguments premised on the logical relationship test, the Fields simultaneously seem to also be arguing for “prospective application” of *Houck* to this case. (*See* Petition at 3). Any such argument by the Fields is erroneous. And to the extent the Fields are attempting to manufacture a conflict—between this Court's Opinion in *Houck*, and the Court of Appeals' decision in the instant case—such arguments are similarly misplaced. Indeed, this Court in *Houck* had the foresight to anticipate the very argument the Fields seem to be making, and to reject any such argument by limiting the holding in *Houck* to “cases commenced on or after” August 9, 2023. *See* 2023 WL 5075037, at \*1. There is no conflict. And the Court of Appeals—just as this Court should do—properly evaluated the Fields' arguments under the logical relationship test.

---

<sup>6</sup> Wilmington acknowledges that this Court in *Houck* abrogated, in relevant part, a line of cases applying the logical relationship test. *See* 2023 WL 5075037. These cases include the following: *Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C.*, 414 S.C. 289, 778 S.E.2d 106 (2015); *Wachovia Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 755 S.E.2d 437 (2014); *Mullinax v. Bates*, 317 S.C. 394, 453 S.E.2d 894 (1995); *First-Citizens Bank & Tr. Co. of S.C. v. Hucks*, 305 S.C. 296, 408 S.E.2d 222 (1991); *DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514, 381 S.E.2d 903; *S.C. Cmty. Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 420 S.C. 89, 800 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 2017); *Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd.*, 351 S.C. 56, 566 S.E.2d 863 (Ct. App. 2002). However, as noted above, *Houck* does not apply to this case, meaning that the logical relationship test—and its application in the above-referenced cases and others—applies to the instant case. Rather than indicating this abrogation following citation to each of the above cases throughout this Return, Wilmington expressly flags the issue for the Court in this footnote.

C. Under South Carolina Law as applicable to this case, a Counterclaim is Compulsory in the Mortgage Lending Context if it Affects the Ability to Pursue, or Otherwise Serves as a Defense to, an Underlying Claim.

Because foreclosure sounds in equity, a party to a foreclosure action is not entitled to a jury trial as a matter of right. *Blackburn*, 407 S.C. at 328, 755 S.E.2d at 441. Rather, a party to a foreclosure action is entitled to a jury trial only where he or she asserts a counterclaim that is both legal and compulsory. *BADD*, 414 S.C. at 295, 778 S.E.2d at 109; *Salon Proz*, 420 S.C. at 96, 800 S.E.2d at 492; *cf. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 517, 381 S.E.2d at 905 (“A party does not waive its right to a jury trial on a counterclaim asserted in an equity action if the counterclaim is legal and compulsory in nature.”).

A counterclaim is either legal or equitable depending on the “‘main purpose’ in bringing the action,” which can be gleaned from both “the body of the [pleading]” as well as “the prayer for relief and any other facts and circumstances which throw light upon the main purpose of the action.” *Verenes*, 387 S.C. at 16, 690 S.E.2d at 773 (internal quotation marks omitted).

A counterclaim is compulsory under SCRCP 13(a) only “if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party’s claim.” SCRCP 13(a). Counterclaims not arising out of the same transaction or occurrence of the leading claims are merely permissive. *See* SCRCP 13(b). As applicable to this case, *see supra* Section I(B), South Carolina applies the logical relationship test in determining whether a counterclaim is compulsory. *See DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905. Under this test, the logical relationship determination is made by asking whether the counterclaim would affect the plaintiff’s right to enforce its claims. *See Blackburn*, 407 S.C. at 330 n.7, 755 S.E.2d at 442 n.7.

Prior to this Court’s decision in *Houck*, South Carolina courts in the mortgage foreclosure context applied the logical relationship test by evaluating whether a successfully asserted counterclaim constitutes a defense to a plaintiff’s cause(s) of action, which is typically a lender’s

action for foreclosure. For instance, in *DAV Corp.*, a lender commenced an action to foreclose on a note and mortgage given to a joint venture, and one of the parties comprising the joint venture (“DAV”) asserted six counterclaims against the lender, including breach of a subsequent oral contract to provide additional funding and breach of a subsequent oral contract to purchase DAV’s interest in the joint venture. *See* 298 S.C. at 516–17, 381 S.E.2d at 904. Because DAV demanded a jury trial on its counterclaims, this Court was forced to determine whether DAV’s counterclaims were compulsory. *See id.* at 517, S.E.2d at 904. As to the breach of funding counterclaim, this Court found it to be compulsory because “if performed,” the oral agreement “*would have avoided* default on the note by the joint venture.” *Id.* at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905 (emphasis added). As to the breach of purchase counterclaim, however, this Court deemed it merely permissive because if performed, the oral agreement would “not [have] affect[ed] the enforceability of the note.” *Id.*

Similarly, in *Salon Proz*, a bank filed a foreclosure complaint, the mortgagor asserted various counterclaims, and—following an order of reference to a master in equity—the mortgagor sought to transfer the matter back to the general docket, arguing it was entitled to a jury trial because its counterclaims were legal and compulsory. 420 S.C. at 92, 800 S.E.2d at 489–90. Finding that at least one of the counterclaims—a SCUTPA claim alleging a pattern of reneging on promises to modify the loans—was compulsory, the Court of Appeals explained: “Were this allegation true, it could affect the loan’s enforceability.” *Id.* at 97, 800 S.E.2d at 492.

On the other hand, where a counterclaim is not a defense to an underlying claim, South Carolina courts find it to be merely permissive. In *BADD*, a bank brought a foreclosure action against a mortgagor and a guarantor, and the guarantor asserted counterclaims for civil conspiracy and breach of contract, both based on an alleged conspiracy with a third party. 414 S.C. at 291–92, 778 S.E.2d at 107. This Court found these counterclaims to be merely permissive because “the

allegations, if true, would not render the guarantees unenforceable.” *Id.* at 296, 778 S.E.2d at 109; *see id.* 296, 778 S.E.2d at 110 (“does not affect the execution or enforceability of the guaranty agreements”).

And in the reverse context in *Houck*—where this Court evaluated whether an action for foreclosure was a permissive or compulsory counterclaim in the context of an action initiated by mortgagors alleging violations of South Carolina’s Attorney Preference Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102, and SCUTPA—this Court “affirm[ed] the result reached by the court of appeals under the logical relationship test.” 2023 WL 5075037, at \*1. The Court of Appeals had concluded that foreclosure was not a compulsory counterclaim because “[the lender’s] foreclosure claim was not a defense to Mortgagors’ allegations . . . , and had [the lender] raised the foreclosure claim . . . , it would not have affected Mortgagors’ allegations pertaining to the violation of the Attorney Preference Statute.” *Deutsche Bank Nat’l Trust Co. v. Estate of Houck*, 434 S.C. 500, 508, 863 S.E.2d 829, 833 (Ct. App. 2021).

*DAV Corp., Salon Proz, BADD, and Houck* (at least in its application to the instant case) make clear that—in the mortgage lending context—a counterclaim has a logical relationship to an underlying claim, and is therefore compulsory, if it would operate as a defense to the underlying claim. Where the counterclaim would not affect the viability of the underlying claim, it is not compulsory.

D. Because the Fields’ counterclaims would not affect the enforceability of Wilmington’s foreclosure, the trial court properly struck the Fields’ jury demand.

The occurrence that gave rise to Wilmington’s foreclosure action was the Fields’ default on the Note. “[T]he party seeking foreclosure has the burden of establishing the existence of the debt and the mortgagor’s default on that debt.” *U.S. Bank Trust Nat’l Assn’n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 374–75, 684 S.E.2d 199, 205 (Ct. App. 2009). “Once the debt and default have been established,

the mortgagor has the burden of establishing a defense to foreclosure such as lack of consideration, payment, or accord and satisfaction.” *Id.*

The Fields’ counterclaims present no such defense. As a threshold matter, the Fields’ Petition does not even identify which of their counterclaims they believe are compulsory. And the Fields provided no better guidance to the Court of Appeals, arguing only that “at least four (4) [of the counterclaims] seek recovery of monetary damages” and “four (4) would implicate enforceability of the note and mortgage,” without specifying which ones. (Appellants’ Brief at 9). On another occasion, the Fields contended only that “[a]t least three (3) of defendant’s at-law counterclaims” are allegedly compulsory. (*Id.* at 10–11). But in both scenarios, the Fields left both Wilmington and the Court of Appeals to guess the counterclaims to which they refer. The Fields similarly leave this Court without any understanding of the counterclaim (or counterclaims) on which their arguments hinge. Even assuming *arguendo* that some of the Fields’ counterclaims are legal, none of the counterclaims is compulsory.

The counterclaims (and third-party claims) in the Fields’ First Amended Answer—spanning 286 numbered paragraphs—generally allege a broad conspiracy between Wilmington, Fannie Mae, and the other third-party defendants,<sup>7</sup> to defraud the Fields, other homeowners in South Carolina, and other homeowners across the country,<sup>8</sup> with a particular focus on the

---

<sup>7</sup> The Fields’ third-party claims—regardless of their nature—do not entitle them to a jury trial because third-party claims are permissive. *See Dav. Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 519, 381 S.E.2d at 906.

<sup>8</sup> Despite the fact that the Fields plead their counterclaims as if they are asserted on behalf of a large group of allegedly aggrieved homeowners (akin to class action claims), the Fields are the only defendants at the trial court level (following Dulamo’s dismissal, *see supra* n.3), and they were the only Appellants on appeal.

securitization and subsequent assignments of the Note. As it relates to the Fields' specific counterclaims, they generally allege as follows:

- **SCUTPA:** “elaborate scheme to defraud unsuspecting homeowners of their homes in South Carolina and nationally” (R. p. 574, ¶ 804); “notary fraud and regular pattern and practice of filing false and perjured documents in the public records” (R. p. 575–576, ¶ 813);
- **Civil Conspiracy:** “fraud upon Homeowners through fraudulent threats of foreclosure and fraudulent foreclosure filings” (R. p. 583, ¶ 841);
- **Fraud and Misrepresentation:** “statements as to alleged ‘ownership’ of the purported note and/or mortgage and the legal entitlement to demand monies from Homeowners and institute foreclosure proceedings were false statements of material fact” (R. p. 587, ¶ 856);<sup>9</sup>
- **Slander of Title by Disparagement of Title:** “an improper foreclosure lawsuit and Lis Pendens which were false, done with malice, [and] published in the public records of the courts and property records of Beaufort County, SC which disparaged their property” (R. pp. 592–593, ¶ 883);
- **Libel and Slander:** “published statements and spoken statements concerning the Homeowners” including “statements to the effect that the Homeowners is [sic] currently delinquent in its payments,” which statements “tended to impeach the honesty, integrity, virtue, creditworthiness, business soundness, and/or reputation of the Homeowners” (R. p. 595, ¶¶ 891–93);
- **Fair Debt Collections Practices Act:** “wrongfully, improperly, and illegally reported negative information as to the Homeowners to one or more Credit Reporting Agencies” (R. p. 596–597, ¶ 900);
- **Unjust Enrichment:** “wrongfully collected and/or attempted to collect payments from Defendants” (R. pp. 598–599, ¶ 913);

---

<sup>9</sup> To the extent the Fields contend that their counterclaims challenge Wilmington’s standing to enforce the Note, any such claim is permissive because “it does not affect the execution or enforceability of the [Note],” *BADD*, 414 S.C. at 296, 778 S.E.2d at 110. That is because Wilmington will appear at trial with the Note endorsed to bearer. *Compare* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301 (providing that holder of an instrument is entitled to enforce it), *with id.* § 36-1-201(b)(21)(A) (providing that holder of an instrument includes “the person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable . . . to bearer”). Thus, regardless of the evidence the Fields might marshal or the arguments they might make, Wilmington will be able to establish its standing to enforce the Note by virtue of its possession of the Note. The Fields’ counterclaims do not—and cannot—change that.

- **Quiet Title:** “Homeowners are entitled to quiet title” because “[t]he security was a ‘securitized’ bond deriving its value from the underlying mortgages of which the purported mortgage is no longer one” (R. pp. 599–600, ¶ 918); and
- **Abuse of Process:** “improper use of process by filing the Lis Pendens and Complaint” (R. p. 601, ¶ 922).<sup>10</sup>

None of these counterclaims is a defense to Wilmington’s foreclosure action, nor do they affect the enforceability of Wilmington’s foreclosure. That is because the allegations in the counterclaims, if proven, would not impact the existence of the debt or the Fields’ default on their debt. Having failed to dispute or counter any of the elements Wilmington must prove to establish its foreclosure action, the Fields cannot show that any of their counterclaims affect the enforceability of the Note. As a result, the Fields are not entitled to a jury trial, meaning the trial court properly struck their jury demand. As such, there are no “special” or “important reasons”

---

<sup>10</sup> Because the nature of these counterclaims—*i.e.*, legal or equitable, compulsory or permissive—would be the only legal issue for this Court to decide if it were to grant the Fields’ Petition for Certiorari, Wilmington would have expected the Fields to focus on which counterclaims allegedly support their argument, and why those counterclaims are purportedly legal and compulsory. That is especially the case because Wilmington flagged this omission before the Court of Appeals. But the Fields continue to fail to clarify their arguments in any way that might entitle them to the relief they seek.

that would support this Court’s exercise of “judicial discretion” in granting certiorari under SCACR 242(b).<sup>11</sup>

**II. REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE FIELDS’ COUNTERCLAIMS ARE PERMISSIVE UNDER THE LOGICAL RELATIONSHIP TEST, THERE ARE NO SPECIAL AND IMPORTANT REASONS WARRANTING ISSUANCE OF A WRIT OF CERTIORARI.**

On the merits, it is Wilmington’s position—as set forth above—that the trial court properly applied the logical relationship test and the cases interpreting it, and properly struck the Fields’ jury demand upon concluding the Fields’ counterclaims were permissive. However, before this Court adjudicates that legal issue, it must first decide whether to exercise its discretion in granting a writ of certiorari. Regardless of the Court’s view of the propriety of the trial court’s decision to strike the Fields’ jury demand, there are no “special and important” reasons warranting issuance of a writ of certiorari in the first place. SCACR 242(b).

This Court in *Houck* was recently faced with the exact same arguments raised here by the Fields regarding the meaning of the logical relationship test and the manner in which the test has been applied in relevant jurisprudence. This Court’s decision in *Houck* to prospectively abolish the logical relationship test and to abrogate, in part, case law applying that test, *see* 2023 WL 5075037, at \*1, undercuts the Fields’ ability to argue for, or establish, “special and important

---

<sup>11</sup> To the extent the Fields are arguing that the trial court failed to apply the logical relationship test (when it should have) (*see* Petition 4), that argument likewise fails. The trial court heard arguments from both sides about whether the Fields’ counterclaims were legal and compulsory, including references to *Salon Proz* and *BADD*—cases which follow *DAV Corp*—and references to the logical relationship test. (*See* R. p. 1608, line 13 to R. p. 1612, line 24). And the Fields briefed the issue at length. (*See* R. pp. 628–629 (block quoting portions of *Salon Proz* outlining logical relationship test)). After reviewing this briefing and hearing oral argument, the trial court indicated it would grant the Motion (R. p. 1626, lines 14–15), and it did so in a Form 4 Order (R. pp. 14–16). To the extent the Fields are arguing that the trial court’s application of the logical relationship test is not apparent from the Court’s Form 4 Order, that argument likewise fails because “[f]indings of fact and conclusions of law are unnecessary on decisions of motions under Rules 12 or 56 or any other motion except as provided in Rule 41(b),” SCRCP 52(a), and Rule 41 is inapplicable here.

reasons,” SCACR 242(b), because the issue at the heart of this appeal is no longer a “live” issue under South Carolina law. Stated differently, because trial courts and litigants going forward will no longer be arguing for and applying the logical relationship test, a decision issued by this Court concerning that abolished test would provide little to no guidance to litigants and judges alike. For this reason, this Petition should be denied because it fails to match the “character of reasons” enumerated in SCACR 242(b).

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Wilmington respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.